RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-21-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP0431

BILL LUEDERS,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SCOTT KRUG,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JANUARY 19, 2018, DECISION AND ORDER OF THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RHONDA L. LANFORD, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT SCOTT KRUG

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7741 (608) 267-2223 (Fax) vandermeusejl@doj.state.wi.us

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Under Wisconsin's public records law, an authority fulfills its duties by providing requesters with a copy of a record that is "substantially as readable" as the original. Here, Plaintiff-Respondent Bill Lueders requested copies of citizen correspondence from Defendant-Appellant Representative Scott Krug's office. Krug's office promptly provided Lueders with a paper copy of all responsive records Lueders requested. Lueders later clarified that he was asking for those same records in "electronic format." Krug declined to provide them in that format, on the ground that he had already fulfilled Lueders' request for the records. Did Krug comply with his duties under Wisconsin's public records law?

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer yes.

2. Under Wisconsin law, civil defendants are entitled to depose plaintiffs and other persons unless doing so would cause "annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense." Wis. Stat. § 804.01(3)(a). Here, the circuit court issued a protective order that prohibited Krug from taking Lueders' deposition. The circuit court did not make specific findings as to how the deposition would cause Krug annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense. Instead, the circuit court reasoned that a plaintiff's deposition may not be taken in public records actions. Was the protective order an erroneous exercise of discretion?

The circuit court did not address this question.

This Court should answer yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary because the briefs, taken together, will adequately present the issues on appeal.

Publication of the Court's decision is warranted. While the relevant public records statutes are clear, the issue of whether an authority must provide documents in a format dictated by a requestor is an unsettled question of law, and the lower courts would benefit from a published decision. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this mandamus action, Lueders claims that Krug violated Wisconsin's public records law, Wis. Stat. §§ 19.31–19.39, because Krug did not provide records in electronic format as Lueders requested. Krug contends that the paper copies he had previously provided Lueders fully complied with the law, as substantially readable copies are all that are required. There is no dispute that Krug promptly provided paper copies of all responsive records Lueders requested.

Lueders was granted a protective order that prevented Krug from taking Lueders' deposition. Krug contends that as a civil defendant, he had a right to depose the plaintiff in order to develop the record as to the relevant issues.

I. Legislative scheme.

The primary issue here is whether Lueders can show he has a clear legal right to dictate the format in which he receives public records. This question turns on an interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b), which states:

Except as otherwise provided by law, any requester has a right to inspect a record and to make or receive a copy of a record. If a requester appears

 $\mathbf{2}$

personally to request a copy of a record that permits copying, the authority having custody of the record may, at its option, permit the requester to copy the record or provide the requester with a copy substantially as readable as the original.

Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b). Lueders is a "requester" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 19.32(3). Krug is an "authority" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1). To comply with Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b), an authority must provide copies of records that are "substantially as readable" as the original. The law requires nothing more.

II. Factual background.

The material facts are not in dispute. On June 21, 2016, Krug's office received a public records request from Plaintiff Bill Lueders, a journalist. (R. $30:6 \ \mbox{\P}\ 8; \ 40:2 \ \mbox{\P}\ 8.$) The request asked for:

[A]ccess to review, under the state's Open Records Law §§ 19.31-39, Wisconsin Statutes) [*sic*] any and all citizen correspondence, including phone records, sent and/or received by Representative Krug or his/her staff, beginning January 1 through and including April 8, 2016....

(R. 1:10, A-App. 124.) This request was for the same documents that had been made by an organization called We the Irrelevant on April 29, $2016.^{1}$ (R. 1:5 ¶ 10.)

There are 99 separate state representatives in the Wisconsin Assembly. (R. $36:4 \P$ 1.) Individual offices of the Assembly, particularly Krug's office, do not have their own technological support. (R. $36:11 \P$ 32.) They have a staff of

¹ We the Irrelevant noted in its request that it would "prefer" electronic copies of the documents, but that preference was not stated in Lueders' June 21 request. (R. 1:4 ¶ 7.)

one and one-half to two full-time positions, with occasional part-time, un-paid interns. (R. 36:4, 7 ¶¶ 2, 3, 15.) Thus, to consistently and efficiently address the Assembly's high volume of public records requests, the Assembly Chief Clerk's office generally acts as a clearinghouse and provides significant assistance to the representatives and their staff regarding public records requests. (R. 36:6 ¶¶ 12–13.) To that end, the Assembly Chief Clerk and the Assembly's legal counsel promulgated a Public Records Request Procedure Policy to be followed by the Assembly members to rectify problems the Assembly had tracking requests. (R. 17:10 ¶ 17–18.)

Krug's office follows the Chief Clerk's procedure for handling public records requests. That office instructs the legislative offices to print paper copies of the records and provide the copies to the Chief Clerk.² (R. 36:8–10 ¶¶ 20–26, 28–29.) This is done to ensure that the Chief Clerk can properly review the documents for responsiveness and treat all responses consistently. (R. 36:8–10 ¶¶ 20–26, 28–29.) Paper copies are easier to review than electronic records, easier to redact (if necessary), easier to track, and ensure that differences in computer software will not hinder the requester's ability to view the records. (R. 36:7 ¶ 18; 25:5 ¶ 20.) The requester can then review the responsive records in the Chief Clerk's office, and purchase copies if desired. (R. 36:9 \P 25.) If copies of the records are purchased, all payments are handled through the Chief Clerk's office. (R. 27:3 ¶ 11.) Individual representative offices are not equipped to handle payment. (R. 36:11 ¶ 36.)

² On occasion, the Chief Clerk has distributed a CD to a requester if a representative's staff gave him the records on CD. (R. 36:11 ¶ 31.)

After receiving Lueders' June 21 request, Krug's office performed a search and uncovered responsive records comprising over 2,000 responsive pages. (R. 27:3-4 ¶ 16.) Keeping with Assembly policy, Krug's office printed the emails and other records and gave them to the Chief Clerk. (R. 30:7-8 ¶ 13; 40:2 ¶ 13.) Krug's office also provided a list of constituent contacts. (R. 36:17 ¶ 60.)

On July 15, 2016, less than a month after receiving Lueders' request, the Chief Clerk contacted Lueders to inform him the records were available for inspection or purchase. (R. 1:6 ¶ 11; 4:3 ¶ 11.) Lueders chose to inspect most of the records rather than purchase them. (R. 30:8 ¶¶ 14, 17; 40:3 ¶¶ 14, 17.)

On July 21, 2016, Lueders emailed Krug's office and stated in relevant part:

Dear Rep. Krug,

Thank you for making the records available to me. I did get copies of the 143 pages of Contact Reports produced by your office. Obviously, trying to match these with more than 1,000 pages of paper is an impossible task. Which is why I am restating my request to receive the records in electronic form, a much simpler method of compliance that the law specifically requires. (See <u>Attorney General's</u> <u>Compliance Guide</u>, P. 52-59.)

This is to request, under the state's open records law (19.31-19.39, state statutes), access to all emails received by your office is [*sic*] response to proposed changes to the state's water laws, from Jan. 1, 2016 to Feb. 29, 2016. This request is not for printed copies of these records; it is for the records in electronic form, as an email folder, or on a flash drive or CD.

(R. 1:11, A-App. 125.) Notably, Lueders did not state that the printed records he had inspected were not readable. His

stated reason for requesting the records in electronic form was so he could sort the information more easily. In addition, Lueders did not ask for the documents in electronic native format. Lueders' written request was for records "in electronic form, as an email folder, or on a flash drive or CD." (R. 1:11, A-App. 125.)

After receiving this letter, Krug consulted with the Chief Clerk, and then contacted Lueders. (R. $30:9 \ \ensuremath{\mathbb{I}}\ 20; 36:19-20 \ \ensuremath{\mathbb{I}}\ 66.$) Having determined that paper copies fulfilled his public records obligations under Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1), Krug declined Lueders' request to provide the records in electronic form. (R. $36:19-20 \ \ensuremath{\mathbb{I}}\ 66.$) Krug's office sent an email to Lueders on July 26, 2016, stating:

As you know, "[t]he Public Records Law provides "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by law, any requester has the right to inspect any record." Wis. Stat. 19.35(1)(a). The law requires copies of written documents be "substantially as readable" as the originals. Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b). Additionally, Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b) provides the custodian has the option to choose how a record will be copied. See Grebner v. Schiebel, 240 Wis. 2d 551 (2000)."

Our standard policy is to make responsive records available to requesters through the office of the Assembly Chief Clerk. The Chief Clerk makes arrangements for the requester to review the records, provides any copies that may be requested, and collects any location or reproduction costs associated with the request. This policy is the most efficient way for our office to comply with the records request, while continuing the day-to-day operation of our official duties without disruption. Individual offices are not set up to accept cash or check as payment for records requests.

Accordingly, we have provided you with access to review the records you have requested and the ability to receive copies of those records that are substantially as readable as the original. Those records were provided for your review in the Assembly Chief Clerk's Office. We now consider your request closed.

(R. 1:12, A-App. 126 (alteration in original).)

Krug's office receives public records requests from groups representing Democrats and groups representing Republicans. (R. 27:5 ¶ 25.) His office responds to all of the requests consistently, following the policy set by the Assembly Chief Clerk's office. (R. 27:5 ¶ 25; 36:21 ¶ 73.) Krug's office did not treat Lueders differently than any other requester. (R. 27:5 ¶ 24.)

III. Litigation history.

In August 2016, Lueders commenced a mandamus action in circuit court pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.37(1)(a). (R. 1.) Among other things, Lueders requested "[a] mandamus order directing [Krug] to produce for the Plaintiff an electronic, native copy of the requested records without further delay." (R. 1:8 ¶ 2.) This was the first time Lueders had ever asserted he wanted the documents in electronic native format. Lueders also requested punitive damages. (R. 1:8 ¶ 3.)

Krug served various written discovery requests on Lueders. (R. 42.) Lueders provided limited responses. (R. 42.) Krug then served a deposition notice on Lueders. (R. 8:2 ¶ 4.) Lueders moved for a protective order, requesting that the circuit court prevent Krug from taking his deposition at all. (R. 8:8.) The court granted a protective order on the ground that deposing a plaintiff would "have a chilling effect" on future public records requests. (R. 12, A-App. 123; 61:10, A-App. 120.) Krug sought leave to appeal the protective order, but the court of appeals denied Krug's motion for leave. (*See* Wis. Ct. App. Case No. 2017AP0488.)

7

The mandamus action proceeded, and the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. (R. 17; 30; 35; 36; 40; 46; 47.) Krug argued that paper copies of the records were all that the law required, while Lueders maintained he was entitled to electronic native records of all documents.

A hearing was held October 12, 2017. (R. 62.) On January 19, 2018, the circuit court entered a written decision granting Lueders' motion for summary judgment and denying Krug's motion for summary judgment. (R. 55, A-App. 101–10.) The circuit court held that an authority must provide a copy of an electronic record "substantially as good" as the original record. (R. 55:4, A-App. 104.) To fulfill this requirement, an authority must consider the needs of the requester, and what the requester intends to do with the documents. (R. 55:6-8, A-App. 106-08.) The circuit court ordered Krug "to produce electronic copies of the records that Plaintiff requested." (R. 55:10, A-App. 110.) The circuit court did not hold that Krug must provide the documents in electronic native format. (R. 55:10, A-App. 110.) Lueders did not cross appeal this issue. The circuit court denied Lueders' request for punitive damages. (R. 55:10, A-App. 110.) Lueders did not cross appeal this issue, either.

This appeal followed.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment independently. Media Placement Servs., Inc. v. Wis. Dep't of Transp., No. 2017AP0791, 2018 WL 1956555, at *2 (Wis. Ct. App. Apr. 24, 2018) (recommended for publication). "Where a circuit court, determining a petition for writ of mandamas, has interpreted Wisconsin's open records law... and has applied that law to undisputed facts," de novo review applies. State ex rel. Milwaukee Police Ass'n v. Jones, 2000 WI App 146, ¶ 11, 237 Wis. 2d 840, 615 N.W.2d 190. Courts review a circuit court's grant of a protective order under the abuse of discretion standard. See Earl v. Gulf & W. Mfg. Co., 123 Wis. 2d 200, 208, 366 N.W.2d 160 (Ct. App. 1985).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court's grant of mandamus relief was improper. Lueders cannot show he has a clear legal right to records in electronic format rather than paper format. Wisconsin Stat. § 19.35(1)(b) requires only that a custodian provide a copy "substantially as readable" as the original. There is no dispute that the paper copies Krug provided—and Lueders inspected—were as readable as the original emails. Because Krug did not violate the public records law, the extraordinary remedy of mandamus relief was unwarranted. In addition, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied Krug the right to depose Lueders. This Court should reverse the circuit court.

I. Lueders' mandamus action fails because he cannot show he has a clear legal right to receive copies of records in electronic format.

Mandamus is an extraordinary writ that may be employed to compel public officers to perform a duty that they are legally obligated to perform. Watton v. Hegerty, 2008 WI 74, ¶ 7, 311 Wis. 2d 52, 751 N.W.2d 369; see also Wis. Stat. § 19.37(1). The person seeking to compel disclosure of records must establish that four criteria are satisfied: "(1) the petitioner has a clear legal right to the records sought; (2) the government entity has a plain legal duty to disclose the records; (3) substantial damages would result if the petition for mandamus was denied; and (4) the petitioner has no other adequate remedy at law." Watton, 311 Wis. 2d 52, ¶ 8 (footnote omitted). This case stops at the first two elements because neither are met. Importantly, this is not a balancing test case. While Krug promptly provided access to printed copies of all records Lueders requested, he declined to fulfill Lueders' request for electronic copies based on the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b) and his conclusion that paper copies fully complied with the statute. Accordingly, this case is not analyzed under the traditional "balancing test" framework for a denial of records. See State ex rel. Savinski v. Kimble, 221 Wis. 2d 833, 839–40, 586 N.W.2d 36 (Ct. App. 1998); see also Newspapers, Inc. v. Breier, 89 Wis. 2d 417, 427–28, 279 N.W.2d 179 (1979). Rather, the Court reviews whether Lueders established that he has a clear statutory right to the electronic copies; and whether Krug had a plain legal duty to disclose the records in electronic format. Watton, 311 Wis. 2d 52, ¶ 8.

Wisconsin's public records law requires authorities to provide copies of written documents in a format "substantially as readable" as the original. Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b). Krug complied with this statute when he provided readable paper copies of the requested documents. By ordering that Krug produce electronic copies, the circuit court ignored the statute's plain language and created an unworkable standard. This Court should reverse the circuit court.

A. "Substantially as readable" is the operative standard.

This case turns on an analysis of Wisconsin's public records law. Statutory analysis must begin with the statutes' plain language. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id. Where "the meaning of

the statute is plain, [courts] ordinarily stop the inquiry." *Id.* (citations omitted). Generally, statutory meaning comes from examining the text, context, and structure of the statute. *Manitowoc Co., Inc. v. Lanning*, 2018 WI 6, ¶ 67, 379 Wis. 2d 189, 906 N.W.2d 130.

Whether Krug was required to provide Lueders with electronic copies turns on an interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b), which states:

Except as otherwise provided by law, any requester has a right to inspect a record^[3] and to make or receive a copy of a record. If a requester appears personally to request a copy of a record that permits copying, the authority having custody of the record may, at its option, permit the requester to copy the record or provide the requester with a copy substantially as readable as the original.

Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b). Under this statute, a requester has the right to inspect, make, and receive copies of records, subject to the parameters in the second sentence. Two things are clear from the second sentence: (1) the requester does not control the format in which an authority provides a copy; and (2) an authority is required to do nothing more than provide the requester with a copy substantially as readable as the original.

Case law confirms that the authority, not the requester, decides the format in which copies of records are provided. In *Grebner v. Schiebel*, 2001 WI App 17, ¶ 3, 240 Wis. 2d 551, 624 N.W.2d 892, a requester appeared at a polling place and asked the clerk to make a copy of the polling data with his own equipment. The clerk declined the request, but offered to make the copies for a charge, and

³ Emails are "records" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 19.32(2).

later offered to allow the requester to copy the poll lists with a digital camera, or transcribe the information into his laptop. *Id.* ¶¶ 6, 14. The requester sued for mandamus relief on the ground that he was entitled to make copies with his own equipment. *Id.* ¶ 1. The circuit court denied mandamus relief and dismissed the requester's complaint. *Id.*

Affirming the circuit court, the court of appeals held that "it is the custodian of public records, not the requester, who has the option of determining how these records are copied." *Id.* The court further noted that the statute "does not require the custodian to articulate or explain the reasons for his or her decision." *Id.* ¶ 13. In 2014, an Attorney General opinion confirmed that *Grebner* remains good law and opined that "the custodian of court records may choose whether to allow someone to make his or her own copies with personal technology." OAG-12-14, ¶ 15 (Dec. 30, 2014), https://www.doj.state.wi.us/sites/default/ files/dls/ag-opinion-archive/2014/2014.pdf.

While the custodian may choose the format in which the records are copied, the custodian must provide a copy that is "substantially as readable" as the original. Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(b). "Readable" is defined as "[e]asily read; legible: a readable typeface."⁴ Therefore, if the authority chooses to provide the requester with a copy, all this statute requires is the copy to be as easily read or legible as the original. In other words, what could be plainly seen on the original should be plainly seen on the copy, unless some portion is not legally subject to disclosure.

Surrounding subsections of Wis. Stat. § 19.35 support this plain language reading. Subsection (1)(b) pertains to written documents and provides that the authority must

⁴ *Readable*, The American Heritage Dictionary (5th ed. 2016).

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