# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN<mark>06-26-2018</mark> COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

BILL LUEDERS,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2018AP0431

SCOTT KRUG,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JANUARY 19, 2018, DECISION AND ORDER OF THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, CASE NO. 16-CV-2189, THE HONORABLE RHONDA L. LANFORD, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT BILL LUEDERS

#### PINES BACH LLP

Christa O. Westerberg, SBN 1040530 Aaron G. Dumas, SBN 1087951 122 W. Washington Avenue, Ste. 900 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 251-0101 (tel.) (608) 251-2883 (fax) cwesterberg@pinesbach.com adumas@pinesbach.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Providing records electronically, in a response to a request for records in their electronic format, advances the public's interest in and access to government information. Krug's denial of electronic records access in this case is an impediment to that access, and the circuit court should be affirmed.

## II. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Lueders' Motion for a Protective Order to Prevent the Deposition of a Records Requester

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in granting Lueders' motion for a protective order prohibiting Krug from deposing him. The deposition would not have generated any relevant information, and Krug's arguments otherwise rely on his misinterpretation of the circuit court's decision. (Krug Br. at 24.) Krug also mischaracterizes the circuit court's

decision as a "blanket prohibition of depositions in public records actions" when the circuit court based its inquiry on Krug's written submissions and motion argument, though also appropriately considered the policy implications of Krug's request. (R.61:10, A-App.120.) These findings were well within the circuit court's discretion.

A. Discovery is Permitted to Collect Relevant Evidence Under the Substantive Law, When Not Oppressive or Harassing.

Contrary to the statement of the law in Krug's brief (Krug Br. at 22-23), Krug did not have an unfettered right to depose Lueders.

Discovery is only available on matters that are **relevant** to claims or defenses. Wis. Stat. §804.01(2)(a) (2015-2016); *State* ex rel. *Amek bin Rilla v. Circuit Court for Dodge Cty.*, 76 Wis. 2d 429, 435, 251 N.W.2d 476, 480 (1977) ("The right to discovery only extends to material relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action."). A party has no right to discover privileged or "clearly irrelevant" matters, or matters unlikely to be relevant. *See Mfg. Sys., Inc. of Milwaukee v. Computer Tech., Inc.*, 99 F.R.D. 335, 336 (E.D. Wis. 1983) (finding court can quash or modify a deposition subpoena where the matters sought are "privileged or clearly irrelevant"). <sup>12</sup>

39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In construing a Wisconsin rule of civil procedure which has a federal counterpart, Wisconsin courts consider as persuasive authority federal decisions construing the federal rule, if those decisions show a pattern of construction. *Schneider v. Ruch*, 146 Wis. 2d 701, 706, 431 N.W.2d 756, 758 (Ct. App. 1988)

"[C]ircuit courts have broad discretion in determining whether to limit discovery through a protective order," including by restricting or preventing depositions. *Paige K.B.*, 226 Wis. 2d at 223. Such orders are available where they would protect a party from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, and undue burden or expense. Wis. Stat. §804.01(3).

Under the Open Records law, the facts and issues are limited, focusing on the defendant's conduct in denying the plaintiff's request. *See* Wis. Stat. §§19.35(1)(a), .37(1). Such suits are akin to agency review cases under Wis. Stat. §227.52, where the government's actions are in dispute—not the challenger's. As such, the government will typically possess all the relevant evidence, and discovery of the plaintiff must be carefully limited. *See City of Lakewood v. Koenig*, 250 P.3d 113, 117 (Wash. App. 2011) (reversing grant of motion to compel discovery of requester in government-initiated declaratory judgment action under the Washington State Public Records Act).

The Open Records law makes the motive and identity of the plaintiff in seeking records irrelevant to his or her entitlement to records. Wis. Stat. §19.35(1)(i). Discovery that intrudes into a requester's identity or purpose is thus annoying, embarrassing, oppressive, and unduly burdensome and expensive, and demonstrates good cause for a protective order. Wis. Stat. §804.01(3)(a). As a matter of practice, it is literally unheard-of for a defendant to request to take a plaintiff's deposition in a case under the Wisconsin Open Records law. (R.9:2 ¶6; R.61:10-61:11, A-App.120-121.)

- B. Lueders' Deposition Would Not Have Generated Relevant Evidence.
  - 1. Most Relevant Facts Were Undisputed.

In this case, the issues were narrow and most of the essential facts were already undisputed before Krug sought to depose Lueders. At that time, Krug had already admitted that:

- Lueders is a "requester" (R.1:3 ¶1; R.4:1 ¶1).
- Krug is an "authority" (R.1:3-4 ¶2; R.4:1 ¶2).
- Lueders made an open records request for an electronic copy of the email messages on July 21, 2016 (R.1:6 ¶13; R.4:3 ¶13).
- Krug sent Lueders a response on July 26, 2016, that did not provide the electronic copy (R.1:7 ¶14; R.4:3 ¶14).
- The requested email messages were a "'record' subject to disclosure under the Open Records law. (R.1:8 ¶ 19; R.4:4 ¶ 19.)

Further discovery on these facts would have been pointless and costly. *See Osborn v*, 254 Wis. 2d 266, ¶12 (application of the Open Records law to undisputed facts presents a question of law).

To the extent there were initial factual disputes, most of the parties' discovery centered on Krug's denial that "the electronic copy constitutes a 'record' distinct from the paper copy." (R.1:8 ¶19; R.4:4 ¶19). These facts were resolved through expert testimony and the parties agreed no material facts precluded summary judgment. (R.62:2-62:3.)

2. Lueders' Identity and Purpose in Seeking Records Were Irrelevant.

Krug cited a changing list of reasons he wanted to depose Lueders, but most improperly focused on Lueders' identity and purpose—irrelevant considerations under the substantive law.

Counsel for Krug initially stated her desire to depose Lueders "because of who he is" (R.9:1 ¶3), citing his expertise as a requester and "scholar in Wisconsin on public records" (R.59:2-3.) At oral argument on the motion for protective order, Krug's counsel's repeated focus was a desire to know "why the records that were given on the first request were not sufficient and what it was that [Lueders] had wanted to do with the records," and that "the defendant [has] the right to know why" the paper copy "wasn't good enough." (R.61:5, 7, A-App.115, 117 (emphasis added).) As recognized by the circuit court, Lueders was protected by law from disclosing his purpose in requesting the records or what he wished to do with them. (R.61:10, A-App.120.) Based on Krug's articulated reasons for seeking summary judgment, the circuit court found the deposition would be oppressive. (Id.)

Krug claims the circuit court's "substantially as good" test puts

Lueders' purpose in seeking the records back in play, because a requester's

"needs" as to a particular format are relevant to the form of a copy that must
be generated. (Krug Br. at 24.) As explained above, Section I.B.3., *supra*, the
court's order does no such thing, and requires a custodian only to assess what

a requester is asking for. (R.55-8, A-App.108.) This inquiry can be resolved based on what is contained in the four corners of an Open Records request, a custodian's knowledge of what formats are generally useable to average requesters, and any subsequent correspondence between requester and custodian while the custodian is filling the request. An after-the-fact deposition of the requester would provide no relevant information about the custodian's assessment of a requester's needs at the time of the request.

In fact, this case illustrates the futility of Krug's argument. An authority need only make a good faith effort to provide records in the appropriate format. *WIREdata*, 2008 WI 69, ¶96. However, here Krug clearly failed to make any effort at all, declaring Lueders' request "closed" based simply on the previous production of paper records. (R.1:12, A-App.126; R.30:5-6 ¶5; R.40:2 ¶5.) There was no doubt as to the appropriate format to fill Lueders' request, and Krug did not claim any confusion as to what Lueders was seeking. As the circuit court noted, Lueders had "clearly communicated that printed copies would not serve his needs, and he specified several electronic formats that would facilitate his ability to work with the records." (R.55:8, A-App.108.) Nothing about Lueders' deposition months later would explain Krug's failure to comply with Lueders' request.

Krug claims two recent cases open the door to inquiring into a requester's identity and purpose (Krug Br. at 23-24), but they are inapposite. *State* ex rel. *Ardell v. Milwaukee Bd. of School Directors* **reinforced** that the

identity and purpose of the requester are irrelevant, but permitted a school district to withhold records about an employee based on public safety considerations where the requester had a "violent history" with the employee and two prior violations of a domestic abuse restraining order. 2014 WI App 66, ¶17, 354 Wis. 2d 471, 482, 849 N.W.2d 894, 899. There are no comparable considerations here. Democratic Party of Wisconsin was a balancing test case where the Court considered the context of the record request and the public policy reasons that the plaintiff/requester offered in favor of disclosure generally, and not reasons that the requesters gave for their own use of the records. 2016 WI 100, ¶¶20, 23, 372 Wis. 2d 460, 477–78, 478, 888 N.W.2d 584, 592, 593. By Krug's admission, "this is not a balancing test case." (Krug Br. at 10.) Furthermore, in neither case did the court rule in favor of allowing defendants' inquiries into the requesters' identities or purposes through discovery.

The circuit court correctly found such inquiries irrelevant here.

3. Krug's Remaining Reasons for Seeking Lueders' Deposition Would Not Have Generated Relevant Evidence.

Krug generally cites other topics he might have explored through a deposition of Lueders (Krug Br. at 23), but these also would not have generated relevant evidence or facts Krug did not already have.

The first and last topics Krug identified—"the facts and circumstances alleged in the complaint" and "all matters alleged in the complaint" are very

general but nonetheless touch on matters that were not reasonably in dispute. (Krug Br. at 23; R.10:4-5.) Second, Krug states that he desired "clarity with respect to the relief [Lueders] sought," but relief is specified in and limited by the Open Records law, Wis. Stat. §19.37, and Lueders' Complaint (R.1:8). Any outstanding facts related to damages depended on Krug's undisputed conduct in denying the request, *see* Wis. Stat. §19.37(3), (4) (allowing penalties and punitive damages for "arbitrary and capricious" denials or delays). *See Doersching v. State Funeral Directors & Embalmers Examining Bd.*, 138 Wis. 2d 312, 325, 405 N.W.2d 781, 787 (Ct. App. 1987) (holding whether behavior "meets a legal standard of propriety or acceptability is a matter of law"). Any questions about damages strategy would have necessarily intruded into attorney-client privileged matters.

Krug's professed desire to "follow[] up on written discovery responses that [Lueders'] counsel objected to" is unclear. (Krug Br. at 23.) However, it suggests that Krug sought to ask questions that (1) Lueders already answered notwithstanding his objections in written discovery, or (2) that were objected to, but whose subject matter Krug intended to intrude into regardless. (R.10:4 & n.2.) Either rationale is problematic and further supported the need for the protective order.

Finally, Krug states that he wished to "discover[] whether Lueders intended to provide any expert testimony on the public records law." (Def's Br. at 23.) Krug's pursuit of Lueders' "expert" testimony only reinforced

concerns that Krug was deposing Lueders because of "who he is," or that Krug would attempt to elicit expert testimony on his own behalf. Krug had no right to "build a record" either based on Lueders' identity or expert testimony that is unwillingly provided. Wis. Stat. §§19.35(1)(i), 907.06(1); *Imposition of Sanctions in Alt v. Cline*, 224 Wis. 2d 72, 86, 589 N.W.2d 21, 26 (1999). As for other experts, Krug had the opportunity to learn of their identities in written discovery and in fact deposed Lueders' information technology expert. (R.41, Exh. J.)

Krug does not identify any additional or relevant facts that only Lueders' deposition could have supplied, and the circuit court correctly granted the protective order.

C. The Reasons Against Allowing Krug's Deposition of Lueders
Outweighed Krug's Proffered Reasons for Why he Should Have Been
Allowed the Deposition.

To the extent that information in Lueders' deposition had any possible relevance, the probative value of the information is substantially outweighed by the oppressive and harassing nature of the inquiry. Wis. Stat. §804.09(3).

The reasons Krug's counsel cited for pursuing Lueders' deposition were thin, and little would be needed to justify a protective order. Section II.B., *supra*. However, in the balance here were the serious reasons—described by Lueders and recognized by the circuit court—that the deposition would have been harassing and oppressive. (R.8:7-8 ¶16; R.61:6-10, A-App.116-20.)

Lueders is a journalist, and Wisconsin law has long exhibited concerns about

the state compelling disclosure of newsgathering activities. *See* Wis. Const. art. I, §3; Wis. Stat. §885.14; *Kurzynski v. Spaeth*, 196 Wis. 2d 182, 538 N.W.2d 554 (Ct. App. 1995). Krug identified Lueders as an expert user of the Open Records law as a basis for seeking his deposition, but if requesters with a longer history of making requests are more susceptible to deposition, then citizen activists, journalists, political opponents, and other frequent requesters can expect searching discovery any time they file an Open Records law complaint. Not coincidentally, this group is more likely to be disfavored or even targeted by government or those in power.

Permitting the deposition would signal to potential Open Records plaintiffs that their identity and motive are subject to cross-examination by State's attorneys (or, as in this case, a state legislator), creating an intimidating and chilling effect on challenging denials or even making requests in the first place. It would also delay the efficient resolution of Open Records cases and production of records improperly withheld, needlessly frustrating the expedient and effective operation of the Open Records law. This undermines the entire purpose of the law to ease access to information and promote an informed electorate. *See* Wis. Stat. §19.31. The Court should not sanction this result.

The circuit court appropriately considered the burden to Lueders in this case, and to records requesters generally, in granting the motion for protective order.

D. Any Error in the Circuit Court's Exercise of Discretion was Harmless.

Finally, even if the circuit court did erroneously exercise its discretion in granting Lueders' motion for a protective order, it was harmless error because it did not affect the court's grant of summary judgment to Lueders.

"No judgment shall be reversed or set aside...for error as to any matter of pleading or procedure, unless...after an examination of the entire action or proceeding, it shall appear that the error complained of has affected the substantial rights of the party seeking to reverse or set aside the judgment." Wis. Stat. §805.18(2). "For an error 'to affect the substantial rights' of a party, there must be a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the outcome of the action or proceeding at issue." *Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, ¶32, 246 Wis. 2d 67, 89, 629 N.W.2d 698, 707.

Krug does not, and cannot, show that his ability to depose Lueders would have likely changed the overall outcome of Lueders' mandamus action. First and foremost, Krug cannot point to a single fact that he could likely have gleaned only from deposing Lueders and that would have changed the court's ruling on the ultimate matter of the legal sufficiency of Krug's refusal to provide more than paper records.

Moreover, Krug was able to rely on his own witnesses and on Lueders' written discovery responses. Krug was even able to depose Lueders' expert witness. (*See* R.44.) Finally, although Krug's desire to depose Lueders hinged in part on Lueders' belief in his entitlement to punitive damages, the circuit

court ultimately ruled for Krug on that matter anyway. (Br. at 23; R.55-9, A-App.109.)

Any error by the circuit court was harmless, and its grant of Lueders' motions for protective order and summary judgment must stand.

## **CONCLUSION**

The circuit court decision and order should be affirmed.